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1. REPORT ON OPERATIONS
1.1 FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Statement of financial position     
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change
Non-current assets 26,629 23,946 2,683 11%
Operating assets 12,654 10,770 1,884 17%
Operating liabilities 10,964 10,343 621 6%
Net working capital 1,690 427 1,263 296%
Non-current liabilities 896 927 -31 -3%
Net capital employed 27,423 23,446 3,977 17%
Net financial position -4,676 -1,706 -2,970 174%
Equity 22,747 21,740 1,007 5%

Income statement       
(€/000) 2009  2008  Change % change
 Revenue 8,650  4,648  4,002 86%
 Operating costs -5,632 65% -5,496 118% -136 2%
 EBITDA 3,018 35% -847 -18% 3,865 -456%
 Amortisation, depreciation, 
impairment and provisions -2,175

 
-5,213

 
3,038 -58%

 EBIT 843 10% -6,060 -130% 6,903 -114%
 Net financial income (costs) 479  -1,615  2,094 -130%
 Profit (loss) before tax 1,322 15% -7,675 -165% 8,997 -117%
 Income taxes -315  39  -354 -906%
 Profit (loss) for the year 1,007 12% -7,636 -164% 8,643 -113%
       
EPS 0.23  -1.73  1.96  

Net financial position    

(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change
 Cash and cash equivalents 170 398 -228
Current securities    
 Current financial receivables 360 111 249
 Current financial payables -3,802 -2,215 -1,587
 Current shareholder payables    
 Current net financial (indebtedness) cash -3,272 -1,706 -1,566
 Non-current financial receivables    
 Non-current shareholder payables    
 Non-current portion of loans -1,404 0 -1,404
 Non-current net financial (indebtedness) cash -1,404 0 -1,404
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 Net financial position -4,676 -1,706 -2,970

Principal performance ratios
2009 2008

ROI (EBIT/Net capital employed) 3.07% -25.85%

ROS (EBIT/Revenue) 9.74% -130.38%

ROE (Profit (loss)/Equity) 4.43% -35.13%

Structural ratio (Non-current liabilities + Equity/Non-current assets) 0.89 0.95

Net financial position/Equità 0.21 0.08

The descriptions contained in the reclassified financial statements are partly taken from the official financial  
statements, presented later in this document, and are partly the result of aggregation; the individual line items  
from the official financial statements used for such aggregations are listed below. 
Operating assets: these are the sum of inventories, trade receivables, tax credits and other assets.
Operating  liabilities: these  are  the  sum  of  current  trade  payables,  tax  payables,  other  liabilities  and 
provisions.
Non-current liabilities: these are the sum of provisions for risks and charges, deferred tax liabilities and 
employee severance indemnity.
Net financial position: this is the sum of financial receivables, cash and cash equivalents and current and  
non-current financial payables.
Revenue: this is the sum of revenue from sales and services, other revenue, and change in inventories.
Operating costs: these are the sum of raw materials, consumables and goods used, payroll costs and other  
operating costs.
Amortisation,  depreciation,  impairment  and  provisions: these  are  the  sum  of  amortisation  and 
impairment  of  intangible  assets,  depreciation  and  impairment  of  property,  plant  and  equipment,  and  
allowances against receivables.
Current financial payables and current shareholder payables: these two items have been aggregated for 
presentation in the official financial statements; details of their composition can be found in note 11 of the  
explanatory notes. 
Non-current  financial  payables  and non-current  shareholder  payables: these  two  items have  been 
aggregated for presentation in the official financial statements; details of their composition can be found in  
note 11 of the explanatory notes. 

The above indicators of EBITDA (earnings before interest, tax, depreciation and amortisation), EBIT and net 
financial  position  are  widely  used  in  financial  reporting  but  have  no  definition  in  either  the  accounting 
standards or the Italian Civil Code and so may not be comparable with similar amounts reported by other  
companies. More information about the net financial position can be found in note 2.6.9 of the explanatory  
notes.

1.2  GENERAL INFORMATION

The Company has adopted International Financial Reporting Standards for the preparation of its financial  
reports, as it has done since the publication of its Quarterly Report at 31 March 2005.

The financial statements of Mondo TV S.p.A. comprising the statement of financial position, income state-
ment, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and the explanatory notes, have been pre-
pared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS/IAS). Following the enact-
ment of European Regulation 1606 in July 2002, starting from 1 January 2005 the Mondo TV Group adopted  
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the IFRS issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and endorsed by the European 
Commission. 

The term "IFRS" means the International Financial Reporting Standards approved by the European Union, 
and all the interpretations issued to date by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee 
(IFRIC) previously known as the Standing Interpretations Committee (SIC). 

Revenue soared 86% on the  prior  year,  while  operating costs  were  largely  stable  (+2%).  As a  result,  
EBITDA was a positive €3.0 million compared with a negative €0.8 million in 2008.
Amortisation, depreciation, impairment and provisions decreased from €5.2 million in 2008 to €2.2 million in 
2009, due to the impact of lower amortisation and depreciation and fewer allowances against receivables.
In view of the above, EBIT was a positive €0.8 million compared with a negative €6.1 million in 2008.
Net financial income was €0.5 million, compared with net financial costs of €1.6 million in the prior year, 
mainly thanks to the capital gain on the sale of the Mondo Home Entertainment shares.

1.3  BUSINESS OPERATING CONDITIONS

The Company and the Group to  which it  belongs  have always  operated  in  the production  and sale  of  
cartoons for television and animated feature films. This business has also expanded into related sectors,  
amongst which the most important, especially for the future, are publishing and the exploitation of proprietary  
rights for merchandising purposes. 

The economic context in 2009 was undeniably a recessionary one,  with GDP contracting by -5.2% over the  
year. 
Weak advertising revenue had a negative impact on the amount of new investment by generalist television  
channels, while the year's major events included the entry of Mediaset into the pay TV sector and the growth 
of specialist television.
The difficult economic climate did not stop the Company from enjoying strong revenue growth in the year, 
thanks to sales of both the old library and new products and to the development of licensing.

The Group has acted since 2003 to optimise its structure and identify a strategic mission for each of its 
member companies. 

An overview of the activities of the Group's principal companies now follows:

Co-Productions with 
French TV

Distribution in continental 
Europe* 

Publishing

*) Listed companies

Production and Distribution *

Merchandising

Distribution of Japanese 
animation

100% 100% 100%100% 56%100%

Distribution in Spain, 
Portugal & South America 

100%

USA Branch

Broadcasting/Sales

100%

MAP Gmbh
Music Publisher

Il Gruppo
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The parent company Mondo TV S.p.A. has established its primacy is creating rights and, to a lesser extent, in 
acquiring such rights on the market which can be exploited both for the television and in the diversified sector  
of ancillary and related rights.  
Doro TV Merchandising S.r.l. operates as a distributor with regional broadcasters.

Mondo Distribution S.r.l. was set up in January 2003 with the objective of publishing albums and stickers,  
being  an activity  initially  pursued  by  the  parent  company and  then  by  Mondo Licensing;  the  magazine 
"Mondo Japan", focusing on Japanese animation, has also been published since 2005.

The mission of Mondo Licensing S.r.l. is to secure a position on the indirect merchandising market.  

Since the German market is the most important one in mainland Europe, the mission of M.I.M. Mondo IGEL  
Media A.G., 56.11% owned by the parent company and listed on Hamburg's start-up market, is to establish  
the Group in German-speaking markets.

Mondo TV France SASU will  produce and co-produce cartoon series for French television broadcasters,  
allowing the Mondo TV Group to expand its operations into France and French-speaking countries. 

MAP Music & Pictures Gmbh has the mission of exploiting music rights owned by the Group in Germany.

Mondo Tv Spain S.L. has the mission of selling TV rights to the Group's library in Spain, Portugal and South  
America, and of producing and co-producing cartoon series for Spanish and Portuguese-language television 
broadcasters.

Mondo TV Kids Inc. has the mission of selling the library in the United States and of developing a digital  
terrestrial  channel  with  titles  from the  Group's  library,  to  be offered  to  US networks  in  exchange  for  a 
percentage of the advertising revenue.

The following table summarises the sectors in which group companies operate:

Mondo TV Group

Production Mondo TV MIM Mondo France

Distribution Mondo TV MIM Mondo Spain Mondo Kids Doro

Publishing M. Distribution M. Licensing

Television distribution activity involves the sale and/or licensing of TV rights to the cartoon series and films in 
the Company's library.
The principal buyers are co-producers, distributors and public and private television channels in Italy and  
abroad who broadcast over the air, cable and satellite.
Both national and international demand displays a considerable capacity to absorb quality products like those  
offered by the Group. The development of new technology in the field of multimedia communication is also  
opening up new and attractive markets and/or market niches for the Company.
The Company carries out production activities on its own account or, as often happens in this sector, in part -
nership with other companies that take part in the production by sharing a part of the costs and/or a part of  
the organisation and executive expenses, while the Company controls the creative side and effectively man-
ages the entire production process. 
Production activities are conducted under the direction and supervision of  the Company's  management,  
assisted, as is usual in this sector, wholly or partly by outside designers, screenwriters and directors and 
animation studios, engaged for the executive production of animated series and films.

The various stages of production of a television series are summarised as follows:

Pre-production Story and characters
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Screenplay
Basic design
Storyboard

Executive production Executive design
Direction

Post-production Control and revision of negatives
Final assembly
Dialogue and soundtrack
Synchronisation and mixing

The Group's strategy is based on a steady increase in library sales, accompanied by ever more intensive and 
extensive development of the traditional sector of television rights and of the newer one, at least for our  
company, of related sectors.
The key points of the new strategic plan are the production of high-quality titles and their marketability, with a 
view to subsequent licensing and merchandising agreements; the first title produced under this new strategy 
has been "Angel’s Friends", while still in production are "Cuccioli Cerca Amici" (Puppy in my Pocket), a co-
production with Giochi Preziosi and Meg Toys, and "Virus Attack".

The sales force has also been enhanced by strengthening of the office in Spain to serve markets in Spain,  
Portugal and South America, and by expanding into markets with a previously only marginal coverage, such 
as the Middle East, Africa, India and the United States.

As for the Cinema and Home Video sector, the Group left this completely in 2009 after selling its interest in  
Mondo Home Entertainment S.p.A. to its management and on the market.

1.4 PRODUCTIONS IN THE YEAR

1.4.1. INVESTMENTS IN LIBRARY

The amounts invested in various productions in the year are summarised in the following table:

Title Amount
Angel's friends 2,247
Gladiatori 346
Temporary licences 1,482
Other investments 111
Total investments 4,186

The Company continued to co-produce television series; its principal co-producers were the RAI Group and 
Play Entertainment.
The following RAI productions are currently being made although, under the net accounting policy adopted by 
the Company, their stage of completion is not reflected in the income statement:

- Farath 2
- Le formiche
- L’isola del tesoro

1.4.2  ACQUISITION AND FORMATION OF NEW COMPANIES

No companies were formed or acquired during 2009.

1.4.3 NEW AGREEMENTS IN 2009

Annual financial report at 31 December 2009 7



            MONDO TV SPA

Mondo TV signed a contract to produce a cartoon series based on the "Puppy in My Pocket" characters  
(known in Italy as "Cuccioli Cerca Amici").
Mondo TV will co-produce the TV series with Giochi Preziosi Spa and MEG Morrison Entertainment Group.

This product is known in Italy under the "Cuccioli Cerca Amici" brand, owned by Giochi Preziosi, and is one 
of the most important brands in the toy industry.

This toy is known in the rest of the world under the "Puppy in My Pocket" brand, owned by the MEG Morrison  
Entertainment Group; it was launched in the early 1990s and has met with great worldwide success.

The contract signed by Mondo TV requires it  to make a cartoon series of 52 episodes lasting about 13  
minutes each, including soundtrack, dialogues and all post-production services.

The  co-producers,  the  Giochi  Preziosi  Group  and  the  MEG  Morrison  Entertainment  Group,  will  be  
responsible for developing the new line of toys.

Giochi  Preziosi  and  the  MEG  Morrison  Entertainment  Group  will  also  be  responsible  for  managing  
merchandising rights relating to the series: namely, a new line of toys, which will be produced and sold in  
Europe by Giochi Preziosi, and other categories of merchandising like products for school and clothing.

Financially,  the contract  sets the production budget at  about  US$ 7.3  million,  financed by the three co-
producers in different proportions; the contract also establishes a timetable for the executive production of the 
episodes and a steady delivery programme starting from April 2010 and continuing over the next 12 months.

The series is expected to go on air by Christmas 2010, initially in Italy where advanced negotiations are in  
progress with leading television broadcasters.

Another important production is that of "Virus Attack". In December, Mondo TV signed an agreement with 
Turner Entertainment Networks International Ltd. (a member of the TimeWarner Group) for the broadcasting 
of the "Virus Attack" cartoon series on television networks owned by the Turner Group in Italy as from the  
start of 2011.

Under the contract, the "Virus Attack" cartoon series, comprising 52 episodes of 13 minutes each, will  be  
broadcast  on  the  Cartoon  Network  channel  (broadcast  on  SKY  Italia,  Mediaset  Premium  Fantasy  and 
Fastweb TV) and Boing (broadcast for free on digital terrestrial television).

The "Virus Attack" series is currently being made by the Mondo TV Group, in co-production with another  
company called Suk.

Under the three-year contract with the Turner Group, this cartoon series will be broadcast exclusively on the  
above channels. 

Turner  Cartoon  Network  Enterprises  will  be  responsible  for  the  distribution  in  Italy  of  licensing  and 
merchandising rights associated with the characters and subjects of the series, which is expected to generate 
a significant return thanks to the strength of its sales and distribution network. All rights relating to the sale of  
home videos will remain with the Mondo TV Group.

The Virus Attack storyline is based on the adventures of five adolescents, led by an ingenious scientist, who 
discover that they have special powers which are used to save the earth from a massive attack by alien 
viruses; these viruses can infect humans, transforming them into their replicants, and are even able to fuse  
with one another. The viruses feed off and get their strength from pollution and human malice. An enthralling,  
very topical story, full of dramatic twists but with a happy ending.

1.5  SHAREHOLDER AND SHARE PRICE INFORMATION
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Based on the contents of the shareholders' register1, communications received under art. 120 of Decree Law 
58/1998 and other available information, the ownership structure at 31 December 2009 was as follows:

Major shareholders
 No. shares %

Orlando Corradi 2,716,905 61.69%
Symphonia SICAV S.p.A. 215,740 4.90%

Sub-total 2,932,645 66.59%
Other shareholders 1,471,493 33.41%
 4,404,138 100.00%

The following table reports the number of shares owned by directors and statutory auditors.

Shares owned by directors and statutory auditors

Full name
 Shares at 
31.12.2008  Shares purchased  Shares sold 

 Shares at 
31.12.2009

Orlando Corradi 2,512,928 203,977 2,716,905

Matteo Corradi 3,240 1,260 4,500

1.6 BUSINESS OUTLOOK AND RELATED RISKS

In terms of the animation market sector, the Group's strategy is based on:

• Production of high-quality, marketable titles both for television and for licensing
• Strengthening its commercial and distribution structure
• New ways of generating revenue from the library

The Group has already started to implement this new approach; as regards high-quality productions, it has  
made the "Angel’s Friends" series (co-produced with Playpress and with the support of RTI/Mediaset) and is  
the process of making the "Cuccioli Cerca Amici" (Puppy in my Pocket) series and the "Virus Attack" series.
Licensing agreements have already been signed for "Angel’s Friends".

As far as commercial  and distribution structure is  concerned, the sales force has been strengthened by  
enlarging the network of agents and representatives. 
 
There is a risk that the impact of the current economic situation could prevent achievement of the goals for  
2010; in fact, the decline in advertising revenue is diminishing the spending power of television stations,  
which in turn could cause the Group's 2010 revenue to fall by more than already planned in the budget.

As for financial risks and contingent liabilities, these are discussed in the explanatory notes.

1.7 HUMAN RESOURCES AND RESEARCH AND DEVELOPMENT

At 31 December 2009 the Company had 15 employees, of whom 2 senior managers, 12 white-collar staff  
and 1 blue-collar employee; these numbers were unchanged since 31 December 2008. 
The Company has a moderate rate of staff turnover.
None of the Group's companies had any serious workplace accidents during the period, nor were there any  
cases of work-related illness or mobbing.
The Company carries out  research and development  for the launch of  new products on the market,  by  
selecting and developing characters with the assistance of tests carried out by childhood sociologists.

1 The Company has appointed Servizio Titoli srl to discharge all the obligations relating to maintenance of the shareholders' register.
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1.8 SIGNIFICANT EVENTS AFTER THE REPORTING PERIOD

The results of Mondo TV S.p.A. in the first quarter of 2010 are largely in line with the budget.

1.9 RELATED PARTY AND INTRAGROUP TRANSACTIONS

Mondo TV has dealings with the following related parties (a list of which is also provided in Appendix 3.5):
• Orlando Corradi, Chairman of the Board of Directors with managerial functions.
• Other members of the Corradi family, including Matteo Corradi, a member of the Board of Directors and  

responsible for investor relations, and Monica Corradi, also a member of the Board of Directors.
• Trilateral Land S.r.l., a company administered by Orlando Corradi, which owns properties in Rome, Milan 

and Guidonia used by group companies.
• Ugo Girardi, a member of the Board of Directors and Deputy Chairman of the MIM Supervisory Board.
The principal relationships with the above related parties are as follows:
 Orlando Corradi, the Company's founder, provides business management services, creates stories  

and  characters  and  co-ordinates  production  activities;  he  also  directs  some  of  the  Mondo  TV 
productions.

 Matteo Corradi, son of Orlando, provides management services in relation to the positions held within 
Mondo TV.

 Monica Corradi, daughter of Orlando, provides management services in relation to the positions held  
within Mondo TV.

 The relationship  with  Trilateral  Land,  a  company  administered  by  Orlando  Corradi,  involves  the 
payment of rent to Trilateral Land for the properties in which the Company's activities are performed.

 The relationship  with  Ugo Girardi  involves him providing financial,  corporate,  tax and accounting 
advice to the Company.

The following table reports the balances and transactions between the Mondo TV Group and these related  
parties:

Related party transactions and balances 

(€/000) Prepayments Payables  Costs  Revenue 
Orlando Corradi 0 0 96,667 0
Monica Corradi 0 0 36,000 0
Matteo Corradi 0 0 42,667 0
Massimiliano Bertolino 0 6,848 10,000 0
Francesco Figliuzzi 0 13,624 18,720 0
Leonardo Pagni 0 0 82,667 0
Trilateral Land S.r.l. 68,441 115,584 342,442 0
Carlo Marchetti 0 6,933 98,933 0
Ugo Girardi 0 28,538 52,418 0
TOTAL 68,441 171,527 780,514 0

Relationship with Doro TV Merchandising S.r.l.
Like in previous years, the principal transactions referred to:
 the payment of royalties to Doro on the sale of licences which it owns.
 the reversal to Doro of the Mondo TV share of Doro's income from SIAE (Società Italiana degli Autori ed 

Editori - Italian Authors and Publishers Association).

 the recharge to Doro of the cost of general services.
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Relationship with MIM Mondo IGEL Media AG
During the year the Company purchased €560 thousand in licences from the subsidiary.

The following table reports the transactions and balances between Mondo TV S.p.A. and all its subsidiaries in 
relation to the dealings described above and other less important ones not described:

Transactions and balances with subsidiaries

 
Fixed 
assets

 Receivable
s Payables  Costs  Revenue 

Doro TV Merchandising srl 0 256,624 171,936 130,533 37,324

Mondo Licensing 0 0 600 0 0

Mondo Distribution S.r.l. 0 45,832 0 0 0

MIM Ag 560,000 3,136,497 2,029,547 0 0

Mondo TV Spain 0 613,965 0 0 496,664

Mondo TV Kids USA 0 113,450 0 0 0
TOTAL 560,000 4,166,368 2,202,083 130,533 533,988

All related party transactions have taken place on an arm's length basis. 

1.10 PROPOSED ALLOCATION OF PROFIT (LOSS) FOR THE YEAR

It is proposed that the profit for the year of €1,006,772 be carried forward.
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2. FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31 DECEMBER 2009
2.1  STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION AT 31.12.2009

Statement of financial position      
 Notes 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change

Non-current assets      
 - Intangible rights  12,985,104 10,661,856 2,323,248 22%
 - Other intangible assets  38,304 69,426 -31,122 -45%
Intangible assets 4 13,023,408 10,731,282 2,292,126 21%
Property, plant and equipment 4 219,928 300,444 -80,516 -27%
Equity investments 4 796,094 1,910,185 -1,114,091 -58%
Receivables  3,750 3,750 0 0%
Deferred tax assets 5 12,585,997 11,000,398 1,585,599 14%

  26,629,177 23,946,059 2,683,118 11%
Current assets      

Inventories      
Trade and other receivables 7 12,233,576 10,597,063 1,636,513 15%
Financial receivables 7 360,450 110,618 249,832 226%
Tax credits 5 88,961 54,148 34,813 64%
Other assets 8 331,406 118,513 212,893 180%
Cash and cash equivalents 9 170,040 398,513 -228,473 -57%

  13,184,433 11,278,855 1,905,578 17%
Total assets  39,813,610 35,224,914 4,588,696 13%

Non-current liabilities      
Employee severance indemnity  183,374 158,174 25,200 16%
Provisions for risks and charges 10 398,854 398,854 0 0%
Deferred tax liabilities 5 314,210 370,027 -55,817 -15%
Financial payables 11 1,403,897 0 1,403,897  

  2,300,335 927,055 1,373,280 148%
Current liabilities      

Provisions for risks and charges  173,824 200,000 -26,176 -13% 
Trade and other payables 11 9,372,686 8,693,299 679,387 8%
Financial payables 11 3,802,542 2,215,232 1,587,310 72%
Tax payables 5 3,835 3,835 0 0%
Other liabilities 12 1,413,645 1,445,522 -31,877 -2%

  14,766,532 12,557,888 2,208,644 18%
Total liabilities  17,066,867 13,484,943 3,581,924 27%
 - Share capital  2,202,069 2,202,069  0%
 - Share premium reserve  57,325,040 57,325,040  0%
 - Legal reserve  430,414 430,414  0%
 - Accumulated losses  -38,217,552 -30,581,272 -7,636,280 25%
 - Profit (loss) for the period  1,006,772 -7,636,280 8,643,052 -113%
Total equity 13 22,746,743 21,739,971 1,006,772 5%
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Total liabilities + equity  39,813,610 35,224,914 4,588,696 13%

2.2  INCOME STATEMENT AND STATEMENT OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME
(classification by nature of expense)

Income statement      

 Notes 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change

 Revenue from sales and services 17 8,350,434 4,567,422 3,783,012 83%

 Other revenue 17 299,620 80,814 218,806 271%

 Change in inventories      

 Raw materials, consumables and goods used  -180,908 -183,520 2,612 -1%

 Payroll costs 18 -852,814 -808,875 -43,939 5%
 Amortisation and impairment of intangible 
assets 19 -1,900,458 -3,985,975 2,085,517 -52%

 Depreciation and impairment of property, plant 
and equipment 19 -125,196 -164,959 39,763 -24%

 Allowances against receivables 7 -150,000 -1,061,726 911,726 -86%

 Other operating costs 20 -4,598,428 -4,503,330 -95,098 2%

 EBIT  842,250 -6,060,149 6,902,399 -114%

 Net financial income (costs) 21 479,281 -1,615,203 2,094,484 -130%

 Profit (loss) before tax  1,321,531 -7,675,352 8,996,883 -117%

 Income taxes 22 -314,759 39,072 -353,831 -906%

 Profit (loss) for the year  1,006,772 -7,636,280 8,643,052 -113%

      

Basic loss per share 24 0.23 -1.73 1.96 -113%

Diluted loss per share  0.23 -1.73 1.96 -113%

Statement of comprehensive income 
 Notes 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change
Profit (loss) for the year 1,006,772 -7,636,280 8,643,052 -113%
Other profits (losses) recognised in equity 0 0 0 -
Total comprehensive income  1,006,772 -7,636,280 8,643,052 -113%
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2.3 STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY 

Statement of changes in equity

(€/000) Share capital Legal reserve
Accumulated 

losses

Share 
premium 
reserve

Profit 
(loss) for 

the 
period Equity

Balance at 31.12.2007 2,202 431 -26,965 57,325 -3,616 29,377
Allocation of loss for
 2007 0 0 -3,616 0 3,616 0
Total comprehensive income for 
2008 0 0 0 0 -7,636 -7,636
Balance at 31.12.2008 2,202 431 -30,581 57,325 -7,636 21,741
Allocation of loss for 2008 0 0 -7,636 0 7,636 0
Total comprehensive income for 
2009 0 0 0 0 1,007 1,007
Balance at 31.12.2009 2,202 431 -38,217 57,325 1,007 22,748

More information about equity can be found in note 13. 

2.4  STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS 1.1.2009 – 31.12.2009

Statement of cash flows 
(€/000) 2009 2008 Change
A. OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 399 1,607  -1,208

Profit (loss) for the year 1,007 -7,636 8,643
Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 2,794 6,771 -3,977
Net change in provisions -1 209 -210

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities before 
changes in working capital 3,800 -656 4,456

(Increase) decrease in trade and other receivables -1,486 -2,028 542
(Increase) decrease in inventories 0 0 0
(Increase) decrease in tax assets -1,621 15 -1,636
(Increase) decrease in other assets -213 -1 -212
Increase (decrease) in trade payables 379 2,542 -2,163
Increase (decrease) in tax liabilities -56 -39 -17
Income taxes paid 0 0 0
Increase (decrease) in other liabilities -32 -271 239

B. NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING ACTIVITIES 771 -438 1,209

(Purchase) disposal of fixed assets
 - Intangible assets -4,192 -1,718 -2,474
 - Property, plant and equipment -45 -172 127
 - Financial assets 1,812 -327 2,139
-  Capital gain on MHE disposal -1,316 0 -1,316
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C. NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING ACTIVITIES -3,741 -2,217 -1,524

Capital movements 0 0 0
(Increase) decrease in financial receivables and securities -250 -83 -167
Increase (decrease) in financial payables 2,884 1,435 1,449
Interest paid 107 95 12

D. NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING ACTIVITIES 2,741 1,447 1,294

E. NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS (B+C+D) -229 -1,208 979

F. CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 170 399 -229
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2.5   FINANCIAL  STATEMENTS  WITH  DISCLOSURE  OF  RELATED  PARTY 
TRANSACTIONS (AS PER CONSOB RESOLUTION 15519 DATED 28/7/2006)   

In order to comply with the recommendations of CONSOB Resolution 15519 dated 28 July 2006 concerning 
"Financial reporting formats", in addition to the official financial statements, a separate income statement, 
statement of  financial  position and statement of  cash flows have been prepared showing the amount of  
material transactions and balances with related parties for each relevant line item.

Statement of financial position

 31.12.2009  related 
parties  %  31.12.2008  related 

parties  %

Non-current assets       
 - Intangible rights 12,985,104 0% 10,661,856 0%
 - Other intangible assets 38,304 0% 69,426 0%
Intangible assets 13,023,408 0 0% 10,731,282 0 0%
Property, plant and equipment 219,928 0% 300,444 0%
Equity investments 796,094 796,094 100% 1,910,185 1,910,185 100%
Receivables 3,750 0% 3,750 0%
Deferred tax assets 12,585,997 0% 11,000,398 0%

26,629,177 796,094 3% 23,946,059 1,910,185 8%
Current assets     

Inventories
Trade receivables 12,233,576 3,788,696 31% 10,597,063 3,069,593 29%
Financial receivables 360,450 360,450 100% 110,618 110,618 100%
Tax credits 88,961 0% 54,148 0%
Other assets 331,406 85,663 26% 118,513 17,222 15%
Cash and cash equivalents 170,040  398,513 0%

13,184,433 4,234,809 32% 11,278,855 3,197,433 28%
Total assets 39,813,610 5,030,903 13% 35,224,914 5,107,618 15%

Non-current liabilities     
Employee severance indemnity 183,374 0% 158,174 0%
Provisions for risks and charges 398,854 0% 398,854 0%
Deferred tax liabilities 314,210 0% 370,027 0%
Financial payables 1,403,897 0

2,300,335 0 0% 927,055 0 0%
Current liabilities     

Provisions for risks and charges 173,824 0 0% 200,000 0
Trade payables 9,372,686 2,373,611 25% 8,693,299 2,016,389 23%
Financial payables 3,802,542 0 0% 2,215,232 0 0%
Tax payables 3,835 0% 3,835 0%
Other liabilities 1,413,645 0% 1,445,522 0%

14,766,532 2,373,611 16% 12,557,888 2,016,389 16%
Total liabilities 17,066,867 2,373,611 14% 13,484,943 2,016,389 15%
 - Share capital 2,202,069 0% 2,202,069 0%

 - Share premium reserve 57,325,040 0% 57,325,040 0%

 - Legal reserve 430,414 0% 430,414 0%

 - Accumulated losses -38,217,552 0% -30,581,272 0%

Annual financial report at 31 December 2009 16



            MONDO TV SPA

 - Profit (loss) for the year 1,006,772  0% -7,636,280  0%
Total equity 22,746,743 0 0% 21,739,971 0 0%
Total liabilities + equity 39,813,610 2,373,611 6% 35,224,914 2,016,389 6%

Income statement 

 2009 related 
parties % 2008 related 

parties %

 Revenue from sales and services 8,350,434 533,988 6% 4,567,422 396,052 9%
 Other revenue 299,620 0% 80,814 0%
 Raw materials, consumables and 
goods used -180,908 0% -183,520 0%

 Payroll costs -852,814 -92,000 11% -808,875 -27,044 3%
 Amortisation and impairment of 
intangible assets -1,900,458 0% -3,985,975 0%

 Depreciation and impairment of 
property, plant and equipment -125,196 0% -164,959 0%

 Allowances against receivables -150,000 0% -1,061,726
 Other operating costs -4,598,428 -819,047 18% -4,503,330 -1,131,245 25%
 EBIT 842,250 -377,059 -45% -6,060,149 -762,237 13%
 Net financial income (costs) 479,281 -618,560 -129% -1,615,203 -1,558,223 96%
 Profit (loss) before tax 1,321,531 -995,619 -75% -7,675,352 -2,320,460 30%
 Income taxes -314,759  0% 39,072  0%
 Profit (loss) for the year 1,006,772 -995,619 -99% -7,636,280 -2,320,460 30%

Statement of cash flows with disclosure of related party transactions

(€/000) 2009
related 
parties % 2008

related 
parties %

A. OPENING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 399  0% 1,607  0%

Profit (loss) for the year 1,007 -996 -99% -7,636 -2,320 30%

Amortisation, depreciation and impairment 2,794 618 22% 6,771 1,558 23%

Capital gain on MHE disposal -1,316 0

Net change in provisions -1 0% 209 0%

Cash flows from (used in) operating activities before 
changes in working capital 2,484 -378 -15% -656 -762 116%

(Increase) decrease in trade receivables -1,486 -788 53% -2,028 21 -1%

(Increase) decrease in tax assets -1,621 0% 15 0%

(Increase) decrease in other assets -213 0% -1 0%
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Increase (decrease) in trade payables 379 357 94% 2542 -40 -2%

Increase (decrease) in tax liabilities -56 0% -39 0%

Income taxes paid 0 0

Increase (decrease) in other liabilities -32 0% -271 0%

B. NET CASH FROM (USED IN) OPERATING 
ACTIVITIES -545 -809 148% -438 -781 178%

(Purchase) disposal of fixed assets

 - Intangible assets -4,192 -560 13% -1,718 -900 52%

 - Property, plant and equipment -45 0% -172 0%

 - Financial assets 1,812 1,812 100% -327 -327 100%

C. NET CASH FROM (USED IN) INVESTING 
ACTIVITIES -2,425 1,252 -52% -2,217 -1,227 55%

(Increase) decrease in financial receivables and 
securities -250 -250 100% -83 -111 134%

Increase (decrease) in financial payables 2,884 0% 1435 -596 -42%

Interest paid in year 107 0% 95 0%

D. NET CASH FROM (USED IN) FINANCING 
ACTIVITIES 2741 -250 -9% 1447 -707 -49%

E. NET INCREASE (DECREASE) IN CASH AND CASH 
EQUIVALENTS (B+C+D) -229 193 -84% -1,208 -2,715 225%

F. CLOSING CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 170   399   
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2.6  EXPLANATORY NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS AT 31.12.2009

2.6.1  INTRODUCTION

Mondo TV S.p.A. is a joint-stock company registered with the Company Register in Rome.
The Company is incorporated and domiciled in Italy, with its registered office in Via Brenta 11, Rome, and is  
listed  on the  Italian  Stock Exchange (in  the STAR segment).  One other  group  company is  listed  on a  
regulated market: MIM Mondo Igel Media A.G. on the Hamburg Exchange.

This draft annual financial report was approved by the Company's Board of Directors on 15 March 2010.

The principal activities of the Company and its subsidiaries are described in the report on operations.
These annual financial statements are presented in euros (€) since this is the currency in which most of the  
Company's transactions are conducted. Its foreign operations are included in accordance with the principles  
described in the following notes.

2.6.2 ACCOUNTING PRINCIPLES AND POLICIES

The financial statements of Mondo TV SpA at 31 December 2009, comprising the statement of financial  
position, income statement, statement of cash flows, statement of changes in equity and the explanatory  
notes, have been prepared in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards ("IFRS" or 
"international accounting standards") published by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB) and  
endorsed  by  the  European  Commission  in  accordance  with  the  procedure  in  art.  6  of  EC  Regulation  
1606/2002 of the European Parliament and Council dated 19 July 2002 and in accordance with art. 9 of  
Italian Decree Law 38/2005.
The term "IFRS" means all the International Financial Reporting Standards, all the International Accounting  
Standards ("IAS"), and all the interpretations issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations 
Committee ("IFRIC"), that have been endorsed by the European Commission at the date the Company's  
Board  of  Directors  approved  the  present  financial  statements  and  that  are  contained  in  related  EU  
Regulations published by such date.

The IASB and the IFRIC have approved a number of changes to the IFRS and interpretations, some of which  
already published in the Official Journal of the European Union, applicable for the first time from 1 January 
2008, or amendments and interpretations already issued but applicable to financial statements beginning on  
or  after  1  January  2008  or  1  January  2009.  Such  amendments  are  discussed  below,  indicating  their  
relevance or otherwise to the Company. 

Accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations applicable from 1 
January 2009 and relevant to the Company's financial statements:

IAS 1 – "Presentation of financial statements". The revised version of IAS 1 introduces, amongst others, the  
requirement to present a statement of comprehensive income, which reports profit and loss for the period  
plus income and expense  recognised directly in equity under IFRS requirements.
IFRS 8  –  "Operating  segments".  IFRS  8  establishes  that  an  entity  must  disclose  information  about  its  
operating segments in its annual financial statements. It also sets out the disclosure requirements for the  
entity's products and services, the geographical areas in which it operates, and its major customers.

Accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations applicable from 1 
January 2010 and relevant to the Company's financial statements:

IFRS 3 – "Business combinations" and IAS 27 – "Consolidated and separate financial statements". The new  
provisions of IFRS 3 establish, amongst others, that acquisition-related costs must be expensed to profit or  
loss in  the period incurred and that  companies may treat  goodwill  in  accordance with  the "full  goodwill  
method" whereby the full amount of goodwill arising from the acquisition is recognised, including the portion 
attributable to non-controlling interests.  
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The revised version of IAS 27 establishes that changes in a parent's ownership interest in a subsidiary (due 
to acquisition or disposal) that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for as equity transactions.

Accounting standards, amendments to accounting standards and interpretations applicable from 1 
January 2010 and not relevant to the Company's financial statements:

Regulation 1293/2009 issued by the European Commission on 23 December 2009 endorsed the amendment  
to IAS 32 "Classification of rights issues", which clarifies the classification in the issuer's financial statements 
of  instruments  giving  shareholders  the  right  to  purchase  the  issuer's  equity  instruments  at  a  price 
denominated in a currency other than the issuer's functional currency. If such instruments are offered pro rata  
to all the shareholders for a fixed amount of currency, they must be classified as equity instruments, even if  
the  exercise  price  is  denominated  in  a  currency  other  than  the  issuer's  functional  currency.   
The amendment to IAS 32 applies to financial periods starting on or after 1 February 2010.    

Regulation 254/2009 issued by the European Commission on 25 March 2009 endorsed IFRIC 12 "Service 
concession arrangements", which defines how to recognise and measure arrangements between the public 
sector and private sector to develop, finance, operate and maintain the infrastructure under concession.

Regulation 636/2009 issued by the European Commission on 22 July 2009 endorsed IFRIC 15 "Agreements 
for the construction of real estate".

Regulation 460/2009 issued by the European Commission on 4 June 2009 endorsed IFRIC 16 "Hedges of a  
net investment in a foreign operation".

Regulation 839/2009 issued by European Commission on 15 September 2009 endorsed the amendment to 
IAS 39 "Financial instruments: recognition and measurement - items qualifying for hedge accounting".

Regulation 1136/2009 issued by the European Commission on 25 November 2009 endorsed the revised 
version of IFRS 1 "First-time adoption of IFRS".

Regulation 1142/2009 issued by the  European  Commission  on 26 November 2009 endorsed IFRIC 17  
"Distributions of non-cash assets to owners". 

Regulation 1164/2009 issued by the  European  Commission  on 27 November 2009 endorsed IFRIC 18  
"Transfers of Assets from Customers".

Treatment of co-production and licence agreements

In order to comply with international practice by companies in this sector and best express the characteristics  
of transactions completed by the Group and the contracts governing them, management decided in 2006 to  
change the accounting policy adopted in previous financial statements for transactions with co-producers  
involving co-production agreements and the partial transfer of rights to the titles co-produced. 

Under a  co-production agreement,  Mondo TV appoints  the other  party  to  make the cartoon,  under  the 
direction and co-ordination of Mondo TV and based on an idea developed by Mondo TV, in return for the  
payment of consideration in several instalments,  according to a fixed calendar. Although these activities  
involve several operational phases, the structure of the agreement is aimed at making the film as a whole. In  
particular,  the  agreement  gives  the  other  party  autonomous  licence  rights,  which  become  effective  on 
completion of each individual stage of the film's production since they relate to the output at the end of each  
stage of production. In return for these rights the other party must pay a fee, which is payable in instalments  
that coincide with completion of each stage of the film's production. The terms of the contract usually provide 
for the cash settlement of just the difference between the amounts invoiced by the co-producer for services 
provided  and  the  amounts  invoiced  by  the  Group  for  transfer  of  the  rights  in  the  geographical  areas 
permitted. Mondo TV remains the owner of the rights in all other areas.
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Under other commercial arrangements Mondo TV makes films under co-production agreements in which it  
produces the film in exchange for cash and rights in certain geographical areas.

The above transactions are now reported on a "net accounting" basis. If the amount invoiced by the co-
producer for services provided should exceed the amount invoiced for the partial transfer of rights, the Group  
recognises  the  excess  as  an  intangible  asset.  If  the  amount  invoiced  by  the  co-producer  is  less,  the 
difference is recognised as revenue for the period. In the case of contracts entailing a reimbursement of 
costs,  the sales invoices are treated as a reduction of the costs incurred. Amortisation of any intangible  
assets is deferred until such time, coinciding with delivery of the physical support, that the company starts to  
exploit the title commercially and generate revenue from third parties. 

The international accounting standards do not contain any explicit guidance on this type of transaction. In  
compliance with IAS 8 par.10, in the absence of an IFRS that specifically applies to a transaction, manage-
ment must select an accounting policy that results in information that is relevant and reflects the economic 
substance of the transaction. In the opinion of management, the "net accounting" treatment is the best option 
for providing a reliable representation of the effects of these transactions that is in line with international prac -
tice and other accounting standards such as US GAAP, as permitted by IAS 8 par. 12. 

The more important accounting policies and principles adopted for preparing the financial statements will now  
be described.

Property, plant and equipment
These are recognised at purchase or production or contribution cost, inclusive of any incidental charges, and  
any direct costs needed to make the asset available for use. These assets are systematically depreciated 
every year on a straight-line basis using rates that reflect the expected economic benefits for the company.
The rates adopted for industrial and commercial equipment range between 12% and 20% and are halved in  
the year that the asset enters service. 

Intangible rights and other intangible assets
Intangible  assets are  recognised at  purchase or  production cost,  inclusive of  any incidental  charges,  in  
accordance with the principles described for property, plant and equipment. In the case of co-productions that  
involve the transfer of part of the rights to the co-producer at the time of their purchase, the cost of such 
rights  is  recognised  using  the  principles  described  in  the  preceding  paragraph,  ie.  net  of  the  amount 
reinvoiced to the co-producer. 
In the case of intangible assets whose availability for use and related payments are deferred beyond the  
normal  terms,  the purchase value and related payable  are  discounted to  present  value with the related  
interest recognised in the original price.
The film and cartoon series rights that comprise the Company's library are amortised using the "individual-
film-forecast-computation method", which looks at the percentage of revenue realised by each title in the  
library at the reporting date relative to total revenue projected by management over a ten-year period from 
the title's release date. The amortisation period starts from when the title has been completed and can be  
commercially exploited.
Costs  incurred  in  currencies  other  than  the  euro  for  producing  intangible  assets  are  translated  at  the  
transaction date exchange rate.
Goodwill and other assets with an indefinite useful life are not systematically amortised, but their recoverable  
amount  is  tested  for  impairment  at  least  once  a  year  or  whenever  there  are  any  signs  of  impairment.  
Impairment losses cannot be subsequently written back.
The  recoverability  of  their  value is  tested in  accordance  with  the principles  established by IAS 36 and  
described in the following paragraph.

Impairment of assets
The recoverable amount of assets must be tested for impairment at least once a year, or whenever there is  
any indication of impairment.

Equity investments
Equity investments, all of which in subsidiaries and not held for sale, are measured at historical cost as 
adjusted for any impairment losses.
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The notes to the financial statements contain a comparison between the cost of such investments and their  
value had they been equity accounted.

Inventories
Inventories are measured at the lower of purchase or production cost, inclusive of incidental charges (under  
the FIFO method), and their estimated realisable value based on market trends.

Receivables
Trade and other receivables are measured on initial recognition at fair value. The amount initially recognised 

is  subsequently  adjusted  to  take  account  of  principal  repayments,  any  impairment  and  the  
amortisation of the difference between the maturity amount and initial amount. Such amortisation is 
performed using the effective interest rate, being the rate that exactly discounts estimated future  
cash receipts to the amount initially recognised (under the "amortised cost method"). 

The allowance against doubtful accounts is recognised to adjust trade receivables to their lower realisable 
amount, and takes account of any objective indicators of impairment. Such writedowns, which are  
based on the most recent information available and the best estimate by management, reduce the 
value of the asset concerned to the present value of its future cash flows. The allowance against 
doubtful accounts is classified as a deduction from "Trade receivables". 

Increases in the allowance against doubtful accounts are classified in "Allowances against receivables" in the  
income statement. This same classification is used for any utilisations of such allowances.

Financial assets
Financial assets are recognised and derecognised from the financial statements on the basis of their trade 
date. They are initially measured at cost, inclusive of charges directly attributable to their acquisition.
On subsequent  reporting  dates,  financial  assets that  the  Company intends  to  hold  to  maturity  (held-to-
maturity  investments)  are  measured  at  amortised  cost  using  the  effective  interest  method,  minus  any 
impairment losses. 
Financial assets other than those held to maturity are classified as held for trading or available for sale, and 
are measured at fair value at every reporting date. When financial assets are held for trading, any profits or  
losses arising from changes in their fair value are recognised in the income statement for the period; profits  
or losses arising from changes in the fair value of available-for-sale financial assets are recognised directly in  
equity until such time as these assets are sold or become impaired; at this point, the cumulative profits or  
losses previously recognised in equity are transferred to the income statement for the period.

Cash and cash equivalents
These include cash on hand and sight  deposits  held  with banks.  They are measured at  fair  value, any 
changes in which are recognised through the income statement. Current account overdrafts are classified as  
"Current financial payables".
Changes in current bank loans are classified in the statement of cash flows among cash flows from financing 
activities.

Assets for guaranteed minimums
Guaranteed minimums recognised in the financial  statements represent the amount actually  invoiced by 
suppliers with reference to the total contractual commitment, which usually coincides with the value of rights  
that the supplier is already allowed to sell. The uninvoiced remainder of contractually agreed amounts with 
suppliers is reported among the commitments.
Both assets recognised for guaranteed minimums paid and the amount of guaranteed minimums reported in  
commitments  are  assessed  for  impairment  on  the  basis  of  future  sales  forecasts  and  management's 
expectations that such sales will be realised.

Bank loans
Interest-bearing bank loans and overdrafts are recognised on the basis  of  the amounts received, minus  
transaction costs, and are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method.
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Trade payables 
Trade, other and financial payables are measured at fair  value on initial recognition. The amount initially  

recognised is subsequently adjusted to take account of principal repayments, and the amortisation 
of the difference between the maturity amount and initial amount. Such amortisation is performed 
using  the  effective  interest  rate,  being  the  rate  that  exactly  discounts  estimated  future  cash  
payments to the amount initially recognised (under the "amortised cost method"). 

If  the estimated cash flows should change and this can be estimated reliably, the amount of payables is  
recalculated to reflect this change on the basis of the present value of the new cash flows and  
original effective interest rate.

Direct tax credits and tax payables
"Tax credits" and "Tax payables" include all those assets and liabilities relating to direct taxes owed by or to  

the tax authorities in the short term or which can be offset against one another. Liabilities in respect  
of indirect taxes are classified in "Other liabilities".

Provisions for risks and charges
Provisions are recognised when: (i) there is a present obligation (legal or constructive) as a result of a past  

event; (ii) it is probable that an outflow of cash will be required to settle the obligation; (iii) a reliable  
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is the 
best estimate of the expenditure that the entity would reasonably pay to settle the obligation or to  
transfer it to a third party. Where the effect of the time value of money is material and the dates of  
settling the obligation can be reliably estimated, the provision is discounted to its present value. 
The  discount  rate  used  for  determining  the  liability's  present  value  reflects  current  market  
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the liability. The increase in the 
provision due to the passage of time is recognised in "Financial income (costs)" in the income 
statement. 

Provisions are periodically updated to reflect changes in estimated costs, in the timing of the obligation's  
settlement and in the discount rate; revised provision estimates are reported in the same line of the 
income statement originally used to recognise the provision, or if the provision refers to an asset,  
against the asset to which it refers. 

The  explanatory  notes  to  the  financial  statements  describe  any  contingent  liabilities  represented  by:  (i)  
possible (but not probable) obligations that arise from past events and whose existence will  be  
confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not 
wholly within the control of the entity; (ii) present obligations that arise from past events whose 
amount cannot be reliably measured or whose settlement is not likely to involve a cash payment. 

Employee severance indemnity
In accordance with IAS 19 the increases in the provision for employee severance indemnity and the provision  
itself are measured by independent experts using actuarial techniques.
The amounts recognised in the financial statements are determined on the basis of Italian employment law, 
and are not materially different to the valuations produced using actuarial techniques.

Dividends
Dividends are accounted for in the period in which they are declared. 

Revenue and income recognition.
Revenue from sales and service is recognised when the risks and rewards of ownership of the goods have  
been effectively transferred or when the service has been completed. The risks and rewards of rights are  
transferred when the physical supports are delivered, in accordance with the terms of the contract.
Revenue is presented net of returns, discounts, allowances and rebates, and any directly related taxes.
Revenue is also stated gross of royalties or any other costs for the use of rights if  the Company retains  
substantially all the risks (particularly counterparty risk, price risk and credit risk). This is why revenue from 
sales and services is recognised and stated at the gross amount invoiced to end customers, since the cost 
incurred to remunerate the principals of distributed products is recognised in production costs.
Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis, with reference to the amount lent and the applicable  
effective interest rate, being the rate that discounts estimated cash receipts through the expected life of the 
financial asset to the net carrying amount of that financial asset.
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Dividends are recognised when the right of shareholders to receive their payment is established.

Leases
A lease is classified as a finance lease if  it  transfers substantially all the risks and rewards incidental to  
ownership to the lessee. All other leases are treated as operating leases.
Assets  which  are  the  subject  of  a  finance  lease  are  recognised  as  assets  in  the  Company's  financial  
statements at their fair value at the inception of the lease, or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum  
lease payments. The corresponding liability to the lessor is reported in the statement of financial position as a 
liability for finance leases. Lease payments are apportioned between the financial charge and the reduction  
of the outstanding liability, with the financial charge allocated to each period during the lease term so as to  
produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the outstanding liability. Financial costs are recognised directly  
in profit or loss for the period, unless they are attributable to specific assets.
Lease payments under an operating lease are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the 
lease term. Incentives received or receivable to enter an operating lease are also recognised on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Foreign currency transactions
When preparing the financial statements of individual entities, foreign currency items are initially recognised  
at the transaction date exchange rate. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in a foreign currency are  
translated using the closing rate at the end of each reporting period. Exchange differences arising on the 
settlement of monetary items or on translating monetary items at closing rates at the end of the reporting  
period are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. 

Income taxes
Income taxes for the year represent the sum of current and deferred taxes.
Current  taxes are based on the taxable  profit  for  the year.  Taxable  profit  differs  from the pre-tax profit  
reported  in  the  income  statement  which  excludes  positive  and  negative  items  that  will  be  taxable  or 
deductible in future years as well as items that will never be taxable or deductible. The liability for current tax 
is calculated using rates that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.
Deferred  taxes  are  taxes  payable  or  recoverable  in  future  periods  in  respect  of  temporary  differences 
between the book value of  assets and liabilities and their  corresponding tax values used for calculating  
taxable  profit,  calculated  using  the  balance  sheet  liability  method.  Deferred  tax  liabilities  are  generally  
recognised for all  taxable temporary differences, while deferred tax assets are recognised for deductible  
temporary differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be available in the future against  
which the deductible temporary differences can be utilised. No such assets and liabilities are recognised if  
the temporary differences relate  to  goodwill  or to the initial  recognition of  other  assets or  liabilities in a 
transaction that is not a business combination and affects neither accounting profit nor taxable profit.
Deferred  tax  liabilities  are  recognised  on  temporary  taxable  differences  associated  with  investments  in 
subsidiaries and associates and interests in joint ventures, except to the extent that the Company is able to  
control the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary difference 
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.
The carrying amount of a deferred tax asset is reviewed at the end of each reporting period and reduced to  
the extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to allow the benefit of part  
or all of that deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply to the period when  
the asset is realised or the liability is settled, based on tax rates that have been enacted or substantively  
enacted by the end of the reporting period. Deferred taxes are recorded as income or expense in profit or  
loss for the period, except for those relating to items recognised directly in equity, for which the associated  
deferred taxes are also recognised in equity.
Deferred tax assets and liabilities cannot be offset if  they relate to separate positions, which reverse in  
different ways at different times.

Principal sources of estimation uncertainty
The preparation of IFRS compliant financial statements and related explanatory notes requires management 
to make estimates and assumptions that affect the amount of assets and liabilities recognised in the financial  
statements and the disclosures relating to contingent assets and liabilities at the reporting date.
Such  estimates  and  assumptions  are  regularly  reviewed  and  the  effects  of  any  changes  immediately  
reflected in the income statement.
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The principal types of judgements required when applying the accounting policies are as follows:
 Estimate of the library's future sales plan for the purposes of determining its amortisation under the  

"individual film forecast computation method", and in the absence of past data for the Company.
 Estimate of the recoverability of receivables.

Determination of the fair value of financial instruments
Fair value of financial instruments quoted in an active market is determined with reference to the bid price on  
the last  day of  the reporting period.  In the absence of  an active market,  fair  value is  determined using  
valuation  techniques,  based  on  objective  financial  data,  and,  where  possible,  prices  reported  in  recent 
comparable transactions and of similar financial instruments.

Earnings per share
Basic earnings per share are calculated by dividing the Company's profit (loss) for the period by the weighted 
average number of shares outstanding during the period.
Diluted earnings per share are calculated by adjusting the Company's profit  (loss) for the period and the  
above weighted average number of shares for the effects of all dilutive potential shares (through conversion  
or subscription of any outstanding options). The adjusted profit (loss) is then divided by the adjusted weighted 
average number of shares outstanding during the period.

Capital requirements
The Company is not subject to any externally imposed requirements under law or regulations on its capital;  
its capital is represented by its equity.
The Company manages the ratio between debt and equity so as to reduce and optimise its overall cost of  
capital and maximise future returns for shareholders; accordingly, the Company has decided not to distribute  
any dividend for 2009, but intends to make a pay-out to shareholders once the business plan's future targets  
are achieved.

2.6.3 SEGMENT DISCLOSURES

The Company's business involves the production or acquisition of media content - particularly cartoons - and  
subsequent distribution by granting user licences. There are no other identifiable segments apart from anima -
tion, nor does management assess performance in any other  way that would constitute a "segment" as  
defined by IFRS 8.

The following table analyses the Company's revenue by geographical area for 2009 and 2008. 
Revenue is allocated to a specific geographical area solely on the basis of the buyer's nationality. No account 
is taken of the territorial distribution of the rights granted.

Revenue by geographical area
(€/000) 2009 2008 Change
Geographical areas Amount % Amount % Amount %
Italy 4,189 48% 1,044 22% 3,145 301%
Europe 2,299 27% 2,761 59% -462 -17%
Asia and Middle East 1,429 17% 294 6% 1,135 386%
Americas 159 2% 86 2% 73 85%
Africa 574 7% 463 10% 111 24%
Total revenue 8,650 100% 4,648 100% 4,002 86%

As for the analysis of non-current assets by geographical area, these are all located in Italy.

2.6.4 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT, INTANGIBLE AND FINANCIAL ASSETS

Movements in intangible rights and other intangible assets are presented in the following table:
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Movement in intangible assets    

(€/000) Intangible 
rights

Other intangible 
assets TOTAL

Prior year    
Cost at 01.01.09 58,860 878 59,738
Accumulated amortisation losses at 01.01.09 -5,119 0 -5,119
Accumulated depreciation at 01.01.09 -43,079 -809 -43,887
Net book value at 01.01.09 10,662 69 10,731
Current year    
Acquisitions in period 4,186 7 4,193
Impairment losses in period -52 0 -52
Amortisation in period -1,811 -38 -1,849
Cost at 31.12.09 63,046 885 63,931

Accumulated amortisation losses at 31.12.09 -5,171 0 -5,171
Accumulated amortisation at 31.12.09 -44,890 -847 -45,737
Net book value at 31.12.09 12,985 38 13,023

All the costs recognised are reasonably associated with a prolonged utility over several years and are being  
systematically amortised using the method described in note 2.6.2.
Intangible rights are amortised on the basis of the sales plans drawn up by management, starting from the 
title's release date.
Other intangible assets refers to standard software and improvements to third-party assets.
Although largely complete, many of the animated feature films in the library require additional work that is typ-
ical of the post-production stage.
The film and cartoon series rights  of  Mondo TV S.p.A that comprise its  library are amortised using the  
"individual-film-forecast-computation method", which looks at the percentage of revenue realised by each title 
in the library at the reporting date relative to total revenue projected by management over a ten-year period  
from the title's release date. The amortisation period starts from when the title has been completed and can 
be commercially exploited.
The adjustment of net book value to future expected revenue has resulted in the recognition of an impairment  
loss of €52 thousand against the library of Mondo TV S.p.A.
This method of  valuation is appropriate for the amortisation of film rights and is more prudent than that  
required by IAS 36.
The Company has also performed an impairment test under IAS 36 at 31 December 2009.

The following basic assumptions were made for the purposes of this test:

• The cash generating units (CGUs) were identified as individual titles within the Mondo TV library.
• A 15-year revenue forecast was prepared for each title; the choice of fifteen years is based on an 

analysis of the Company's past sales results, from which it is reasonable to foresee a useful life of  
this duration; most of the library consists of proprietary titles, meaning they have no natural expiry  
date (unlimited rights), and the useful life of cartoon titles is generally longer than other types of 
films; the revenue projection was approved by the Board of Directors on 15 March 2010.

• Sales of each title were assumed to decline over the 15 years on the basis that second run sales to  
television stations tend to take place at lower prices than the first run, and that the market for each  
title tends to become saturated over time.

• Titles were assumed to have no terminal value.
• A discount rate of 6.90% was used (7.98% at 31 December 2008), having been determined on the 

basis of the principles of CAPM (Capital Asset Pricing Model); the figures used for this calculation  
were pre-tax ones.

The tests revealed a recoverable amount of €30.4 million for the library as a whole compared with a  
book value of  €13.0 million,  meaning that there was no need to  recognise any impairment  losses;  
furthermore, the recoverable amount of each individual CGU was also higher than book value.
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The sensitivity analysis of these results showed that if revenue was 70% of the projection, there would  
be  an  impairment  loss  of  around  €67  thousand,  while  if  revenue  was  50% of  the  projection,  the 
impairment loss would rise to some €956 thousand.

Movements in property, plant and equipment are presented in the following table:

Movement in property, plant and equipment     

(€/000) Plant and 
machinery

Industrial and 
commercial 
equipment

Other 
assets TOTAL

Prior year     
Cost at 01.01.09 2,026 335 446 2,807
Accumulated depreciation at 01.01.09 -1,890 -264 -353 -2,507
Net book value at 01.01.09 136 71 93 300

Current year     
Increases from additions 41 0 4 45
Decreases from retirement/disposal 0 0 0 0
Depreciation -46 -44 -35 -125
Cost at 31.12.09 2,067 335 450 2,852
Accumulated depreciation at 31.12.09 -1,936 -308 -388 -2,632
Net book value at 31.12.09 131 27 62 220

There are no restrictions on the title to or ownership of property, plant and equipment and intangible assets.

Movements in and the amount of equity investments, all of which in subsidiaries, are shown in the following 
table:

Comparison between book value of equity investments and share of equity

  
31/12/200

8
Increases/

(decreases)
Impairment 

losses
31/12/200

9
Equity

%
Share of 

equity Difference

Doro TV 250 0 -150 100 99 100.00 99 -1
Mondo TV Licensing 6 4 0 10 10 100.00 10 0
Mondo Home Entertainment 715 -715 0 0 0 0.00 0 0
MIM 761 -35 -400 326 867 56.11 486 160
Mondo TV France 0 250 0 250 304 100.00 304 54
Mondo Distribution 10 0 0 10 12 100.00 12 2
Mondo TV Spain 100 0 0 100 -207 100.00 -207 -307
Mondo TV Kids 69 0 -69 0 -34 100.00 -34 -34
Total  1,910 -496 -619 796 1,051  670 -126

The  principal  change  relative  to  2008  is  the  disposal  during  2009  of  the  shares  in  Mondo  Home  
Entertainment S.p.A.
The book value of the investment in Mondo TV Spain reported in the financial statements of Mondo TV SpA  
is higher than the corresponding share of its equity. Future profits by this company are expected to close this  
difference; in the meantime, a provision for risks on equity investments of €376 thousand has been recog-
nised. 
The report on operations contains additional information about equity investments.

2.6.5  TAX ASSETS AND LIABILITIES 
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Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent that they are reasonably likely to be recovered; the recogni -
tion of deferred tax assets reflects judgements by the Board of Directors as to whether there will be sufficient  
future taxable profit to permit their recovery.

The Company prepared a ten-year business plan at the start of 2009 whose principal objectives are:

1. to make high-quality productions
2. to strengthen the distribution network
3. to  open up new sales channels,  amongst  which licensing and digital  terrestrial  or  satellite  TV 

channels worldwide

The business plan is currently being implemented, with the status of each of its phases described below:

High-quality productions
Over the past two to three years the Company has been seeking to identify opportunities that will allow it to  
develop high-quality products with good market visibility. Accordingly, management has sought out partners  
who will ensure that high-quality, high-visibility productions are made.
These activities allowed the Group to enter into contact with major market players in 2008 such as Play  
Entertainment/RTI and MPG/Ferrero, to complete the first part of the "Monster and Pirates" cartoon series in  
2008 and to sign production agreements for "Angel’s Friends", completed at the end of 2009 and now being  
aired on Italia 1. Current work in progress includes the "Cuccioli Cerca Amici" series, a co-production with  
Giochi  Preziosi/Meg Toys,  and "Virus Attack",  a  co-production  with  Suk,  as well  as  a  television  film of 
"Angel’s Friends"; production of a second series of "Angel’s Friends" is expected to start shortly.
As for co-productions with RAI (Italian state television), production of KIM was completed in the first quarter  
of 2009, while other productions have already been contracted.

Strengthening of distribution network
The Company already did much in terms of the distribution network in 2009; a sales team was created 
comprising 12 members spread across the globe. The board director Matteo Corradi devoted most of his time 
in 2009 to  managing foreign sales.  In fact,  the foreign sales channel is  expected to  make a significant  
contribution to the Company's revenue. 
The sales network will soon be able to generate revenue from the "old library" in nine countries; in fact, the  
Company has  almost  completed  dubbing  the  entire  library  into  Spanish,  French,  Arabic  and  Greek,  in 
addition to the existing dubbings in English and Italian. 

Opening of new sales channels
The Company is starting to use the important licensing channel thanks to new high-quality series and new  
marketing opportunities; in fact,  it  is currently benefiting from licensing rights to "Angel's Friends" and is  
working on the production of two other important series, also for licensing purposes, namely "Cuccioli cerca 
Amici", already a major worldwide success as the Puppy in my Pocket toy, and "Virus Attack".

Years subsequent to 2010
Apart from productions already agreed, the goal for coming years is to supplement the RAI productions with  
new ones with Play Entertainment and Giochi Preziosi, and to start new productions directly as Mondo TV,  
always with a view to producing high-quality, widely marketable titles, especially as far as licensing is con -
cerned.
Sales of the "old library" are expected to report an increase thanks to the stronger sales force but ease from 
2011, while sales of the "new library" are expected to grow significantly, driven by the new productions due to  
be released, and to licensing revenue and the guaranteed minimums for new productions whose royalties 
exceed the minimums for series released in previous years.

Key figures from the Business Plan (2010 – 2019) are as follows:
(€/000)  
Licences old library 39,116 22%
Licences new library 44,650 25%
Executive productions and co-productions 40,890 23%
Licensing and Merchandising 51,400 29%
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Other operating revenue 2,500 1%
 Total operating revenue 178,556 100%
 Total operating costs 93,329

 EBITDA 85,227

 EBIT 59,009

 Pre-tax profit (loss) 60,659

The above plan will allow some €61 million in taxable profit to be generated in the next 10 years, which would 
allow around €16 million in deferred tax assets to be recovered.
A ten-year period has been selected because the library of rights currently held and the new initiatives con -
tained in the business plan are expected to produce a revenue stream for at least this period.
The total amount of deferred tax assets that could theoretically be recognised is more than €23 million, as  
shown in the following table:

Summary by nature
Library amortisation and impairment 12,514
Carryforward losses 9,921
Taxed provisions 1,047
Other temporary differences 72
  23,554

The tax losses expire on different dates over the years 2010-2014, while around €13 million refers to tempor -
ary differences on rights which will reverse according to the library's amortisation for tax; the remaining differ -
ences have a shorter expiry. Consequently, only those assets likely to be recovered on the basis of the plan  
have been recognised.

Movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities    

(€/000) 31.12.2008 Increases Decreases 31.12.2009
Assets 11,000 1,956 -370 12,586
Liabilities 370 0 -56 314
Net deferred tax assets 10,630 1,956 -314 12,272

Management has carefully evaluated the possibility that these projections will not be met in view of the innate  
risks of executing such a plan. The following considerations have been made in this regard: 

- sales  of  the  old  library  carry  extremely  low fixed  and  direct  costs,  being  a  proprietary  library  
requiring limited distribution and replication costs; in addition, the remuneration of the sales force is  
predominantly linked to the achievement of sales targets;

- new library productions such as co-productions are lower margin and hence the impact of any 
reduction in their sales has a relatively smaller impact on profit (loss) for the period;

- the Company's business involves extremely low overheads.

In conclusion, management is of the opinion that the recognition of deferred tax assets is justified by their  
expected recovery. The recognition of around €12.6 million in deferred tax assets (of which €1.9 million for 
the transfer of the 2008 tax losses of Mondo Home Entertainment S.p.A.), compares with the business plan's  
theoretical recovery of some €16.0 million. This means that even if forecast revenue is 10 - 15% lower and  
there is no reduction in the related costs apart from the variable ones, then the deferred tax assets currently  
recognised will still be recovered.

Clearly, full recovery of the deferred tax assets already recognised depends on actually achieving the goals 
contained in the plan, which is susceptible to the uncertainties typifying any forecast.
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However, the results in 2009, which were in line with budget, and in the early part of 2010 indicate that the  
budget's goals can be achieved, thus supporting the plan's credibility.

2.6.6  INVENTORIES

These refer to inventories physically held at the end of the reporting period of multimedia CD Roms, video 
and music  cassettes,  DVDs,  stickers and related albums relating to  certain  cartoon series of  which the 
Company is proprietor or licensee.
The value of these inventories has been fully written down in previous years.
Inventories are analysed in the following table:

Inventories        
(€/000) 31.12.2008   31.12.2009   Change

 
Gross 

amount
Obsolescence 

allowance
Net 

amount
Gross 

amount
Obsolescence 

allowance
Net 

amount  

Finished products (VHS/DVD) 299 299 0 299 299 0 0

Total inventories 299 299 0 299 299 0 0

2.6.7 CURRENT TRADE AND FINANCIAL RECEIVABLES

Current receivables, all of which due within twelve months, are analysed in the following table:

Current receivables    
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change
Customers 3,732 2,634 1,098
Customers for uninvoiced instalments due 2,172 1,521 651
Subsidiaries 3,789 2,870 919
Co-productions 2,081 3,167 -1,086
Other 31 40 -9
VAT credits 429 354 75
Tax credits for advances paid and withholdings incurred 0 11 -11
TOTAL 12,234 10,597 1,637

Amounts due from customers for uninvoiced instalments due refer to contracts for which the related revenue 
has matured but whose invoices are not yet due for issue.
The value of current receivables approximates their fair value.

Amounts  due  from customers  for  co-productions  of  €2,081  thousand  refer  to  payments  for  purchasing 
services needed to discharge contractual obligations with co-producers. In accordance with the accounting  
polices  described  in  note  2.6.3,  at  the  end  of  production  these  expenses  will  be  netted  against  the  
corresponding receipts (which amount to €2,558 thousand at 31 December 2009 and are reported in current 
payables). 

The nominal value of receivables has been adjusted to estimated realisable value by means of a suitably  
sized allowance, movements in which during the period have been as follows:

Allowance against doubtful accounts 2009 2008

Opening allowance against doubtful accounts 3,558 2,496
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Increase in allowance in period 150 1,062

Closing allowance against doubtful accounts 3,708 3,558

The increase in the allowance during the period has basically written down all pre-2009 receivables from non-
group companies.

The value of current receivables is equal to amortised cost, as adjusted for any impairment losses.

2.6.8 OTHER ASSETS

These amount to €0.3 million (€0.1 million at  31.12.2008) and comprise costs that relate to subsequent  
years.
All these costs have been deferred in order to match the associated revenue that will be recognised in sub-
sequent years.
They are expected to reverse to the income statement in the next twelve months.

2.6.9 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Virtually all of the cash and cash equivalents refer to balances held with banks.
Around €169 thousand is denominated in US dollars, which have been translated into euro at the year-end  
closing rate.

2.6.10. PROVISIONS FOR RISKS AND CHARGES AND EMPLOYEE SEVERANCE INDEMNITY

Current and non-current provisions for risks and charges    
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change
Employee severance indemnity 183 158 25 16%
Provision for sales returns 23 23 0 0%
Provision for losses on equity investments 376 376 0 0%
TOTAL NON-CURRENT 399 399 0 0%
Provision for tax assessment risks 174 200 -26 -13%
TOTAL CURRENT 174 200 -26 -13%

Movement in Employee severance indemnity and Provisions for risks and charges

(€/000) 31.12.2008
Increases in 
provisions Uses 31.12.2009

Employee severance indemnity 158 45 20 183
Provision for tax risks and charges 200 0 26 174
Provision for sales returns 23 0 0 23

Provision for losses on equity investments 376 0 0 376
TOTAL 757 45 47 756

The provision for tax risks and charges, prudently estimated at €200 thousand at 31 December 2008, refers  
to a tax assessment received by the Company from the Italian authorities during the course of the prior year.  
Uses during the year relate to payments made in the period under the settlement reached between the  
Company and the tax authorities for tax year 2003.

Note 2.6.15 discusses additional risks on top of those reflected in the provisions for risks.
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2.6.11 CURRENT AND NON-CURRENT PAYABLES

Payables are classified by nature and due date in the following table:

(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change
Trade payables    

Suppliers 4,413 2,607 1,806
Subsidiaries 2,202 1,955 247
Total trade payables 6,615 4,562 2,053

Other payables    
Wages, salaries and emoluments 23 21 2
Social security institutions 82 96 -14
Advances from customers 8 8 0
Co-productions - suspense account 2,558 3,934 -1,376
Withholding taxes on employment income 87 72 15
Other payables 0 0 0
Total other payables 2,758 4,131 -1,373
Total trade and other payables 9,373 8,693 680

Payables due to suppliers mostly refer to services needed to sell film rights, and to services provided by  
outside consultants during the course of 2009.
Information about payables due to subsidiaries can be found in the earlier section on related party and intra -
group transactions within the report on operations.
See note 2.6.7 (current trade and financial receivables) for more information about co-production payables.
The book value of the above payables approximates their fair value.

Financial payables are analysed in the following table.

Financial payables

(€/000) 31.12.2009   31.12.2008   

Description
Within 12 
months

Beyond 12 
months Total

Within 12 
months

Beyond 12 
months Total

Non-current finance leases       

Bank loans  1,404 1,404    

Non-current payables 0 1,404 1,404 0 0 0

Payables to majority shareholders       

Bank loans and overdrafts 3,802  3,802 2,201  2,201
Current finance leases 1  1 14  14

Other financial payables       

Current payables 3,803 0 3,803 2,215 0 2,215

Total 3,803 1,404 5,207 2,215 0 2,215

"Bank loans and overdrafts" comprise overdrafts, advances on invoicing and the portion of loans repayable 
within the next 12 months. The portion of such loans repayable after more than 12 months has been 
classified in "Bank loans" under non-current payables.
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2.6.12  OTHER LIABILITIES

These amount to €1.4 million at 31 December 2009, the same as at 31 December 2008. These all refer to  
revenue from the licensing of proprietary rights that has been invoiced at the end of the period but will be re -
cognised in future periods insofar as relating to rights whose physical supports have not yet been delivered. 

2.6.13  EQUITY

Share capital is made up as follows:

Description Nominal value 
(Euro)Ordinary shares 4,404,138 0.5

TOTAL 4,404,138 € 2,202,069

The number of outstanding shares has not changed during the year.
There are no other classes of shares or rights, entitlements and restrictions over any class of share.
The Company does not hold any of its own shares.
Equity reserves are analysed as follows:

Equity reserves
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008
 - Share premium reserve 57,325 57,325
 - Legal reserve 431 431
 - Retained earnings (accumulated losses) -38,217 -30,581
 - Profit (loss) for the period 1,007 -7,636
TOTAL 20,546 19,539

The origins, permitted uses and distribution of the equity accounts are described below:
The full amount of share capital and the legal reserve may be used only to cover losses.
The full amount of the share premium reserve may be used to increase capital or cover losses and may  
also be distributed to shareholders.
There are no revaluation reserves.
There are no reserves or other provisions regardless of when formed, distribution of which would give 
rise to taxable income for the Company.
There are no reserves or other provisions regardless of when formed, distribution of which would give 
rise to taxable income for the shareholders.
There are no reserves or other provisions that are incorporated in share capital.

2.6.14 TAX POSITION

The Company is still open to assessment  for direct taxes and VAT from fiscal years 2005 onwards. Further  
to an inspection relating to fiscal years 2003 to 2006, the Company received an assessment from the Italian 
tax authorities for fiscal year 2003, that was agreed in the first half of the year; the assessment requires  
Mondo TV to pay €108 thousand in instalments over the next three years.

2.6.15 CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

The Company is in litigation with Pegasus Distribuzione Srl, which has presented a claim for compensation 
for alleged breach of two sales contracts by Mondo TV.
Pegasus is demanding that Mondo TV pay a total of €463 thousand in costs for products purchased and a  
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sum ranging between €101 thousand and €169 thousand for loss of earnings. In addition, the claimant is 
demanding compensation for damage to its image.
Mondo TV has demanded first and foremost that the claim be rejected on the lack of grounds; it has also  
requested that the lower amount claimed be verified, taking into account the failure of Pegasus to send back 
goods sold and to pay the agreed consideration, as well as the possible offset of a receivable balance owed 
to Mondo TV by Pegasus for excess goods delivered and commercially exploited by the counterparty (€69  
thousand).
Pegasus must demonstrate the effective loss incurred from selling products not covered by the contract;  
having nonetheless commercially benefited from products delivered in error, and having earned revenue, it  
must prove that the revenue from selling the products covered by contract would have been higher.
This said, the actual existence and size of this risk are absolutely uncertain.
This is why, following the indications of IAS 37, the Company has not made any provision against this risk. 
The case is currently being decided, with a ruling expected in the early part of 2010.

Management considers that there are no other material contingent liabilities that require recognition or dis-
closure in the financial statements at 31 December 2009.

2.6.16 COMMITMENTS

Commitments contracted by the Company and not reflected in payables or provisions for risks and charges 
refer to:
 Commitments, contractually assumed by the Company with the suppliers of executive production  

services for the next two years of  cartoon series.  Commitments with executive producers will  be 
discharged primarily using resources from co-production and/or pre-sale agreements, entered into at  
the same time as the original contracts. These commitments amount to around €1.4 million.

 Commitments for future lease payments up to a maximum of three years amounting to around €0.3  
million, of which €0.3 million due within 12 months.

 A performance bond for €0.5 million relating to the production of the "Laura Star III" series.
 A guarantee of €1 million in favour of Mondo France for the opening of a line of credit.
 A guarantee of €0.25 million in favour of MIM for the opening of a line of credit.
 A guarantee for €0.1 million given to the Italian tax authorities.
 The commitment to pay Mondo France S.A.S.U. the sum of €750 thousand by the end of 2010 as the 

balance of a capital increase for €1 million, of which the first 25% was paid on 22 December 2009.

2.6.17  SALES REVENUE AND OTHER OPERATING REVENUE

The Company earns most of its revenue from the concession of rights to use television rights; such revenue  
amounts to €5.1 million in 2009, representing 59% of the total and a major increase on the figure of €2.4  
million reported in the prior year; this improvement reflected the start of sales of the "Angel’s Friends" series  
and the strengthening of the sales force. 

Licensing of the "Angel's Friends" series started towards the end of 2009, generating €0.8 million in revenue  
for the Company.

During 2009 the Company also earned €2.2 million in revenue for  production services provided to  third 
parties, compared with €1.9 million in the prior year.

As described in more detail in the section on related party and intragroup transactions, revenue from group  
companies amounted to  €534 thousand (€396 thousand in  2008);  no revenue was earned from related 
parties during the year.

Revenue from sales and services increased by 83%, from €4.6 million in 2008 to €8.4 million in 2009.

Management  expects  another  increase in  revenue in  2010,  thanks  to  sales of  the new library  and the  
stronger commercial network.
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2.6.18 RAW MATERIALS
 
The cost of purchasing raw materials has come down from €184 thousand in 2008 to €180 thousand in 2009 
despite higher volumes; this is thanks to technological advances that have made it possible to deliver much  
work via the internet using FTP without the need for purchasing physical materials.

2.6.19 PAYROLL COSTS

Costs incurred for employees are detailed in the following table:

Payroll costs     
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change
Wages and salaries 622 597 25 4%
Social security contributions 186 172 14 8%
Employee severance indemnity 45 40 5 10%
Total 853 809 44 5%

In accordance with IAS 19 the increases in the provision for employee severance indemnity and the provision  
itself have been measured by independent experts using actuarial techniques.
The amounts recognised in the financial statements are determined on the basis of Italian employment law, 
since they are not materially different to the valuations produced using actuarial techniques.
The following table analyses the Company's workforce by staff category:

Headcount 
 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Average

Blue-collars 1 1 1
White-collars 12 13 12
Senior managers 2 1 2
Total 15 15 15

2.6.20 AMORTISATION AND DEPRECIATION 

The following table analyses these particular costs:

Amortisation and depreciation 
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change
Proprietary rights 1,161 1,006 155 15%
Unlimited rights 27 26 1 4%
Temporary licences 623 358 265 74%
Software licences 35 35 0 0%
Improvements to third-party assets 2 3 -1 -33%
Impairment test of intangible assets 52 2,558 -2,506 -98%
Amortisation of intangible assets 1,900 3,986 -2,086 -52%
Plant and machinery 46 67 -21 -32%
Industrial and commercial equipment 44 62 -18 -29%
Other assets 35 35 0 0%
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 125 165 -39 -24%
Total 2,026 4,151 -2,125 -51%
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The decrease in amortisation of proprietary rights and temporary licences compared with the prior year is due  
to the large amount of impairment losses recognised in 2008.

2.6.21 OTHER OPERATING COSTS 

Other operating costs are analysed in the following table:

Other operating costs     
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change
Production costs 1,553 924 629 68%
Sales and marketing costs 654 714 -60 -8%
Consulting and professional fees 463 620 -157 -25%
Emoluments of directors and officers 334 215 119 55%
Audit fees 99 107 -8 -7%
Other services 1,135 1,404 -269 -19%
Cost of services 4,238 3,984 254 6%
Leases and rentals 313 298 15 5%
Use of third-party assets 313 298 15 5%
Increases in provisions 0 200 -200 -100%
Sundry operating costs 47 21 26 123%
Total 4,598 4,503 95 2%

The increase in production costs is due to the larger number of productions carried out during the year.

2.6.22  FINANCIAL INCOME (COSTS)

The following table analyses financial income (costs).

Financial income (costs)
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change

Financial income     
Capital gains 1,316    
Bank interest 0 11 -11 -100%
Other financial income 147    

Financial income sub-total 1,463 11 1,452 132%
Financial costs     

Interest on short-term bank loans -107 -53 -54 102%
Interest on long-term bank loans -20    
Other interest 0 -2 2 -100%
Discounts and bank charges -86 -39 -46 118%
Other financial costs -27 -1 -26 260%

Financial costs sub-total -240 -95 -145 153%
Exchange gains and losses     

Exchange gains 53 154 -101 -66%
Exchange losses -179 -127 -51 40%

Exchange gains and losses sub-total -126 27 -153 -567%
Impairment of equity investments -618 -1,558 940 -60%

TOTAL 479 -1,615 2,094 -130%

The impairment of equity investments reflects the adjustment of carrying amount to the Company’s share of 
equity for the investments in Doro (€150 thousand), MIM (€400 thousand) and Mondo TV Kids (€68 thou-
sand).
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The capital gain of €1,316 thousand refers to the sale during 2009 of the equity investment in Mondo Home 
Entertainment S.p.A.

2.6.23 INCOME TAXES 

Details are provided in the table below.

Income taxes
(€/000) 31.12.2009 31.12.2008 Change % change
Taxes from prior years     
Current taxes     
Reversal of deferred tax assets to profit or loss -422 0 -422  
Reversal of deferred tax liabilities to profit or loss 60 67 -7 -10%
Deferred tax assets recognised in period 51 0 51  
Deferred tax liabilities recognised in period -4 -28 24 -86%
Total net deferred tax benefit (expense) -315 39 -354 -908%
Income taxes for the period -315 39 -354 -908%
IRES (Italian corporate income tax) -230 30 -260 -867%
IRAP (Italian regional business tax) -85 9 -94 -1044%
Income taxes for the period -315 39 -354 -908%

Details of the changes in deferred tax assets and liabilities are discussed in the earlier note on tax assets and  
liabilities.

Tax reconciliation
(€/000) 2009 2008
Profit (loss) before tax 1,321 -7,675
IRES at the prevailing rate -363 2,111
Tax effect of permanent differences for IRES purposes 133 -495
Changes in net deferred tax assets (IRES) 0 -1,586

IRES (Italian corporate income tax) 230 30
IRAP (Italian regional business tax) 85 9
Prior year IRAP adjustment 0 0
Total income taxes for the period 315 39

The Group files for tax in Italy on a group basis; the members of this tax group are Mondo TV, the parent 
company, and its subsidiaries Doro, Mondo Licensing and Mondo Distribution; under this arrangement, the 
subsidiaries transfer their taxable profit or loss and credits for withholding taxes to Mondo TV (as the head of  
the tax group).
The overall tax due is then settled by the parent company, while the related tax transfers are reflected in the  
intragroup balances between the subsidiaries and Mondo TV. 

2.6.24 DIVIDENDS

No dividends were declared during the period nor were any dividends paid out in the period under previous  
resolutions.

2.6.25 EARNINGS PER SHARE
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Basic earnings per share attributable to ordinary equity holders of the Company are calculated by dividing 
profit (or loss) by the number of shares. The number of shares remained unchanged throughout the year.

2.6.26  FINANCIAL RISKS

The Company's financial instruments include bank loans and credit facilities, finance leases and sight bank 
deposits.
Such instruments are used to finance the Company's operating activities. The Company has other financial  
instruments, such as trade payables and receivables resulting from its operating activities.
The principal risks arising from the Company's financial instruments are:

1. credit risk
2. liquidity risk
3. currency risk
4. interest rate risk  

Credit risk
Credit risk is a company's exposure to potential losses arising from failure of other parties to discharge their 
obligations.
During  the year  the Company took  appropriate  steps,  such  as  verifying the  credit  rating of  debtors,  to  
minimise its exposure to this risk.
Credit risk management primarily involves selecting customers on the basis of their reliability and solvency  
and limiting exposure to individual customers.
Individually material positions are written down on a case-by-case basis if  there is a risk of partial or full  
default.
A  general  allowance,  calculated  on  the  basis  of  past  experience  and  statistics,  is  recognised  against 
receivables that have not been written down individually.
Trade receivables amount to €13,400 at 31 December 2009, of which €7,412 past due by more than 12  
months; the allowance recognised against these receivables amounts to €3,708.
At 31 December 2008, trade receivables amounted to €10,568, of which €6,609 past due by more than 12 
months; the allowance recognised against these receivables amounted to €3,558.
As for trade receivables that are not past due, no significant evidence of their impairment has emerged as a  
result of analysis of individual customer reliability and the fact that credit risk is not highly concentrated.
There are no financial assets that would otherwise be past due whose terms have been renegotiated.

Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that financial resources are unavailable or are available at a high price such as to  
have an impact on a company's economic results.
This risk is carefully monitored by the Company's directors; during 2009 part of the short-term debt was 
transformed into long-term debt, with the goal of shifting all of Mondo TV's short-term exposures to the long 
term in 2010. In this regard, on 1 March, the Company received a three-year loan for €2.5 million at a rate of  
3-month Euribor +2.90 from Giuliana Bertozzi, a related party; this loan has considerably reduced the amount 
of Mondo TV's current debt and lowered its overall cost of borrowing.

The following table analyses Mondo TV's credit lines at 31 December 2009:

Credit lines at 31 December 2009 (€/millions)

Cash Commercial Guarantees Loans Total

  
Intesa SanPaolo 0.75 0 2.5 0 3.25
Unicredit 0.2 1.1 0 1.1 2.4
BNL 0.5 0 0 0.9 1.4
BPL (mixed) 0.2 0.3 0 0 0.5
Cariferrara (mixed) 0.75 0 0 0 0.75
Total 2.4 1.4 2.5 2 8.3
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Currency risk
Mondo  TV  is  exposed  to  transactions  in  foreign  currency  (US  dollars).  This  exposure  is  the  result  of  
investments and sales.
Currency risk is managed by keeping a sufficient amount of US dollar balances to settle payables and other  
commitments denominated in US dollars.

Sensitivity analysis: 
If the EUR/USD exchange rate was 10 points higher at 31 December 2009 (ie. 1.556 USD to the euro), profit  
for the year would have been some €50 thousand lower, net of tax.
If the exchange rate was 10 points lower (ie. 1.356 USD to the euro), profit for the year would have been  
some €57 thousand higher, net of tax.

Interest rate risk
The exposure to interest rate risk is minimal in view of the Company's low financial exposure.

 

2.6.27 EMOLUMENTS OF DIRECTORS, OFFICERS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The following table  presents the annual  emoluments payable  to  directors and officers  and to  other  key  
management personnel; the impact of such emoluments on the income statement is reported in the section  
on related party transactions.

Emoluments due to directors and officers
Surname First name Office held Annual 

emolumentsBertolino Massimiliano Director of Mondo TV S.p.A. 10,000
Corradi Orlando Chairman of Mondo TV S.p.A. 150,000
Corradi Monica Director of Mondo TV S.p.A 40,000
Corradi Matteo Director of Mondo TV S.p.A. 50,000
Figliuzzi Francesco Director of Mondo TV S.p.A  18,000
Girardi Ugo Director of Mondo TV S.p.A 10,000
Pagni Leonardo Director of Mondo TV S.p.A  92,000
Marchetti Carlo Director of Mondo TV S.p.A  102,000
Ferrari Marcello Chairman of Mondo TV S.p.A. Board of Statutory Auditors 11,000
Mechelli Alessandro Member of Mondo TV S.p.A. Board of Statutory Auditors 8,500
Romani Vittorio Member of Mondo TV S.p.A. Board of Statutory Auditors 8,500

2.6.28 INDEPENDENT AUDITOR FEES

As required by art. 149-duodecies of the CONSOB Issuer Regulations, the fees recorded in 2009 for the  
various services provided by the independent auditors PricewaterhouseCoopers SpA are disclosed in the 
following table.
Only audit and audit support services were provided during the course of the year. 

Type of service Service provided by To Fees Period

Audit of art. 71 
information 

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. Mondo TV S.p.A. 24 2009
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memorandum
Financial statements 
audit

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A. Mondo TV S.p.A. 75 2009

2.6.29 INFORMATION ON FAIR VALUE OF FINANCIAL ASSETS AND LIABILITIES

The fair value of trade receivables and other financial assets, trade and other payables and other financial  
liabilities, classified as "current" in the statement of financial position and reported using the amortised cost  
method, is the same as their  book value at 31 December 2009 because most of these positions will  be 
settled in the short term.
Non-current financial assets and liabilities carry market rates of interest and so their fair value is considered  
to be generally in line with current market values. There are therefore no differences between their fair value 
and their book value.

2.7.30 ATYPICAL OR UNUSUAL TRANSACTIONS

In  accordance  with  CONSOB Communication  DEM/6064293  dated  28  July  2006  "Disclosures  by  listed 
issuers  and  issuers  of  widely-held  financial  instruments  pursuant  to  art.116  of  Italy's  Financial  Markets 
Consolidation Act – Requirements under art.114.5 of Decree Law 58/98", it is reported as follows:

• there have not been any non-recurring transactions or events or transactions or events which are 
not frequently repeated during the ordinary course of business;

• there have been no atypical and/or unusual transactions.

The financial statements were authorised for publication by the Board of Directors in the meeting of 15 March  
2010.

On behalf of the Board of Directors of Mondo TV S.p.A.

Chairman and Chief Executive

_______________________________
(Orlando Corradi)
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3. APPENDICES
3.1 DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF THE COMPANY

Board of Directors1

Chairman and Chief Executive
Orlando Corradi
Directors
Monica Corradi
Matteo Corradi
Ugo Girardi
Massimiliano Bertolino2

Francesco Figliuzzi3
Leonardo Pagni
Carlo Marchetti

Internal Control Committee
Chairman
Francesco Figliuzzi
Members
Massimiliano Bertolino
Ugo Girardi

Compensation Committee
Chairman
Massimiliano Bertolino
Members
Francesco Figliuzzi
Ugo Girardi

Investor relations
Matteo Corradi

Board of Statutory Auditors4

Marcello Ferrari (Chairman)
Alessandro Mechelli
Vittorio Romani

Independent Auditors5

PricewaterhouseCoopers S.p.A.

Sponsor and Specialist
Banca IMI S.p.A.

3.2 DELEGATED POWER AND CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Delegated power

The Chairman Orlando Corradi is the Company's legal representative, as required by art. 19 of the by-laws.
The Board of Directors nominated Orlando Corradi as Chief Executive on 15 May 2006 and granted him  
1 In office until approval of financial statements at 31.12.2011
2 Independent director
3 Independent director
4 In office until approval of financial statements at 31.12.2010
5 Nine-year engagement, until approval of financial statements at 31.12.2014
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every power for the Company's ordinary and extraordinary management, excluding only those which by law 
are the prerogative of  the Board of  Directors as well  as all  transactions with  a material  impact on the  
Company's financial results, assets and liabilities and financial position and all related party transactions.

Corporate governance

The system of corporate governance in the process of being implemented is based on the recommendations 
contained in the Corporate Governance Code published by the Italian Stock Exchange's special committee 
for listed companies.

On 22 December 2006 the shareholders voted to make a number of amendments to the by-laws in order to  
comply with Law 262/2005.

In particular, the amendments to art. 8 were to comply with art. 126-bis of Decree 58/1998, which requires  
minority shareholders to have the right to request the inclusion of additional items on the agenda to share-
holders' meetings.
Art. 14 was amended for new procedures relating to: the election and composition of the Board of Directors;  
the reputation of persons serving as the Company's directors, and powers to convene meetings of the Board 
of Directors.
Art. 16 was amended to comply with art. 151, par. 2 of Decree 58/1998 concerning the calling of meetings of  
the Board of Directors by members of the Board of Statutory Auditors.
Art. 21 was amended to include the requirements of art. 148 of Decree 58/1998 concerning the Chairman of  
the Board of Statutory Auditors, and the vacation of office by members of Board of Statutory Auditors, and of  
art. 148-bis of Decree 58/1998 and art. 2400 par. 4 of the Italian Civil Code concerning limits on the number 
of other appointments that can be held.
Art. 28 was amended to include a reference to Law 196 dated 30.6.2003 (the Personal data protection law) in  
the part relating to the protection of the personal data of the Company's shareholders.
Lastly, a new art. 21-bis was included to comply with art. 154-bis of Decree 58/1998, introduced by Law 
262/2005, concerning the appointment of a financial reporting officer.

The Company is managed by a Board of Directors, which currently has 8 members, in accordance with the 
resolution adopted by the shareholders on 30 April 2009.
The  Board  of  Directors  of  Mondo  TV  S.p.A.  is  the  body  which  decides  strategic,  organisational  and 
operational  policy,  and  evaluates  the  existence  and  adequacy  of  the  controls  needed  to  monitor  the  
performance of the parent company and its subsidiaries. In particular the Board of Directors:
 delegates and revokes powers and operating responsibilities to the directors;
 determines, after examining the proposals of the Compensation Committee and consulting the Board of  
Statutory Auditors, the remuneration of the directors pursuant to art. 2389.3 of the Italian Civil Code;
 examines and approves the strategic plans of the Company's subsidiaries and the corporate structure 
of the Group itself;
 monitors the Company's general performance and specifically approves transactions with a particular  
impact on its financial position and economic results;
 evaluates the adequacy of organisational and administrative structure;
 oversees any potential or actual conflicts of interests and related party transactions;
 reports to shareholders in general meetings.

The Board of Directors is properly formed when a majority of the serving directors are present at meetings  
and passes valid resolutions with the favourable vote of the majority of those present. The chairman has the  
casting vote in the event of a tie.
The Board of Directors appointed an Internal Control Committee and a Compensation Committee on 15 May 
2009.

The duties of the Internal Control Committee are as follows:
 to evaluate the adequacy of the Company's internal controls;
 to  examine  and  select  the  proposals  for  the  engagement  of  the  independent  auditors  and  make  
recommendations to the Board of Directors;   
 to report to the Board of Directors once every six months on the activities carried out and on proposed  
changes to internal controls;

Annual financial report at 31 December 2009 42



            MONDO TV SPA

 to handle every aspect of the relationship with the independent auditors and carry out any other task 
assigned to it for this purpose by the Board of Directors.
The duties of the Compensation Committee involve presenting proposals for the compensation payable to 
members of the Board of Directors.
All  the  members  of  the  Internal  Control  Committee  and  Compensation  Committee  are  non-executive  
directors, while Francesco Figliuzzi and Massimiliano Bertolino are also independent directors as required 
by the Corporate Governance Code.

The  Chairman  and  Chief  Executive  decides  the  compensation  of  employees  within  the  scope  of  his 
delegated powers.
The Chairman of the Board of Directors is responsible for calling board meetings, deciding the agenda  
beforehand, co-ordinating the Board's activities and chairing its meetings.
For the purposes of formal board meetings and other informal meetings, the Chairman ensures that all 
members of the Board of Directors and Board of Statutory Auditors have the fullest information possible  
about the Company and particularly about the Chairman's actions when exercising the authority delegated to  
him.
The Board of Directors appoints a secretary to take the minutes at each meeting.

Under the by-laws the Board of Statutory Auditors consists of three standing members and two alternate 
ones, as elected by the shareholders who also establish their emoluments. 
The  current  by-laws  also  allow  minority  shareholders  to  elect  one  standing  statutory  auditor  and  one  
alternate statutory auditor.  
The Board of Statutory Auditors is appointed through the presentation of candidate lists. Shareholders who, 
alone or together with others, own at least 2% of the voting rights are entitled to present such lists.
The lists presented must be filed at the Company's registered office at least ten days prior to the date of the  
shareholders' meeting in first call, together with details of the experience of the proposed candidates.
The statutory auditors are aware that they must:
 act autonomously and independently, including with respect to the shareholders who elected them;
 act solely in the Company's interests;
 oversee the Company's management by the Board of Directors;
 co-ordinate their work with that of the independent auditors and the Internal Control Committee.
The Board of Statutory Auditors currently in office was appointed by the shareholders on 28 May 2008 and 
will serve until the shareholders' meeting called to approve the financial statements for the year ended 31  
December 2010. 
An  Investor  Relations function  has  been  created  to  facilitate  dialogue  between  the  Company  and 
shareholders and institutional investors. This function is currently the responsibility of the director Matteo  
Corradi.
This director is also in charge of seeing that documents and information relating to the Company, especially  
price sensitive information, is published externally in accordance with CONSOB in regulation 11.971 and the  
instructions of the Italian Stock Exchange.

The Company organises meetings with the financial community at least once every six months, during which 
it  illustrates  its  results  and  future  strategy,  and  it  holds  bilateral  meetings  with  institutional  investors  
whenever so requested.
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3.3 DIRECTORS AND OFFICERS OF SUBSIDIARIES

Doro TV Merchandising S.r.l. Sole Director
Bruno Galizi

.
Mondo Licensing S.r.l. Sole Director

Bruno Galizi

Mondo Distribution S.r.l. Sole Director
Bruno Galizi

M.I.M. Mondo IGEL Media A.G. Sole Director
Matteo Corradi
Supervisory Board
Florian Dobroschke (Chairman)
Ugo Girardi (Deputy Chairman)
Vittorio Romani
Independent Auditors
PricewaterhouseCoopers Gmbh

Mondo France S.A.S.U. Directors
Matteo Corradi (Chairman)
Eve Baron
Ugo Girardi
Auditor
Hermesiane Society Sas

Mondo TV Kids Inc. Sole Director 
Matteo Corradi

Mondo TV Spain SL. Sole Director 
Matteo Corradi

MAP Music & Pictures Gmbh Sole Director
Jed Harris

3.4 LIST OF EQUITY INVESTMENTS

List of equity investments held at 31.12.2009

Company name Doro TV Merchandising S.r.l.
Registered office Rome
Share capital €10,000
Equity at 31.12.2009 €99,433
Profit (loss) for 2009 - €150,263
Interest held  100%

Company name Mondo Licensing S.r.l.
Registered office Rome
Share capital €10,000
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Equity at 31.12.2009 €10,239
Profit (loss) for 2009 €239
Interest held 100%
Company name Mondo Distribution S.r.l.
Registered office Rome
Share capital €10,000
Equity at 31.12.2009 €11,575
Profit (loss) for 2009 -€42,978
Interest held 100%
Company name MIM Mondo Igel Media A.G.
Registered office Hamburg (Germany)
Share capital €1,694,777
Equity at 31.12.2009 €866,888
Profit (loss) for 2009 -€420,695
Interest held 56.11%

Company name Mondo TV France SASU1

Registered office Paris (France)
Share capital €350,000
Equity at 31.12.2009 €1,054,456
Profit (loss) for 2009 -€144,125
Interest held 100.00%

Company name MAP Music & Pictures Gmbh
Registered office Hamburg
Share capital €25,000
Equity at 31.12.2009 €19,051
Profit (loss) for 2009 -€2,066
Interest held 56.11%
Company name Mondo TV Kids Inc.
Registered office Irving, Texas
Share capital €69,415
Equity at 31.12.2009 -€34,212
Profit (loss) for 2009 –€13,471
Interest held 100%
Company name Mondo TV Spain SL.
Registered office Madrid
Share capital €100,000
Equity at 31.12.2009 -€207,191
Profit (loss) for 2009 -€171,115
Interest held 100%

1 Formed 27 March 2006. 
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3.5 LIST OF RELATED PARTIES 

Company name or full name Status

Trilateral Land Srl Company administered or owned by a related party
Refidata Srl Company administered or owned by a related party
Xco Holding Ltd Company administered or owned by a related party
IME Gmbh Unconsolidated subsidiary (in liquidation)
Orlando Corradi Controlling shareholder – MTV director
Massimiliano Bertolino MTV director 
Matteo Corradi MTV, MIM, MFR director.
Monica Corradi MTV director
Francesco Figliuzzi MTV director
Ugo Girardi MTV, MFR director – MIM Supervisory Board
Leonardo Pagni MTV director
Carlo Marchetti MTV director
Bruno Galizi DORO, MLIC, MDIS director
Florian Dobroscke MIM Supervisory Board
Vittorio Romani MIM Supervisory Board
Eve Baron MFR director
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Certification pursuant to art. 81-ter of CONSOB Regulation 11971 of 14 May 1999 and subsequent amendments 
and additions

1. The undersigned Orlando Corradi and Carlo Marchetti, respectively chief executive and financial reporting officer of 
Mondo TV S.p.A. (the "Company" or the "Issuer"), attest, also taking account of the provisions of paragraphs 3 and 4, 
art. 154-bis of Decree 58 dated 24 February 1998:

• the adequacy in relation to the company's characteristics and

• the effective application of the accounting and administrative processes for preparing the financial statements 
at 31 December 2009.

2. They also certify that the financial statements at 31 December 2009:

a) correspond to the underlying accounting records and books of account;

b)  have been prepared in accordance with the International  Financial  Reporting Standards (IFRS)  published by the 
International Accounting Standards Board and endorsed by the European Union and that they are able to provide a true 
and fair view of the Issuer's statement of financial position and results of operations.

Rome,

15 March 2010 

Orlando Corradi (Chief Executive Mondo TV S.p.A.)

Carlo Marchetti (Financial Reporting Officer Mondo TV S.p.A.)
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